






CITY OF SNELLVILLE 
MEETINGS AND LOCAL EVENTS 

AUGUST 14, 2023 
 

August 14 
Council Meeting  
Monday, August 14, 2023 
6:30 pm Work Session – Conference Room 145, City Hall  
7:30 pm Meeting - Council Chambers, City Hall 
 
August 16 
DDA Meeting 
Wednesday, August 16, 2023 
4:00 pm Meeting – City Hall Room 259, Second Floor 
 
August 17 
DAS & URA Joint Meeting 
Thursday, August 17, 2023 
4:00 pm Meeting – City Hall Room 259, Second Floor  
 
August 18 
Centennial Celebration  
Friday, August 18, 2023 
4:00 pm – Towne Green  
 
August 19 
Centennial Celebration  
Saturday, August 19, 2023 
6:00 pm – Towne Green  
 
August 20 
Broadcast of 8/24/23 Council Meeting 
Sunday, August 20, 2023 
Watch the broadcast of the 8/14/2023 Council Meeting on Comcast Channel 25 at 6:30 pm 
 
August 22 
Planning Commission Meeting - Canceled  
 
August 26 
Farmers’ Market 
Saturday, August 26, 2023 
8:30 am to 12:30 pm – Towne Green 
 
August 26 
Live on the Lawn Concert  
Saturday, August 26, 2023 
6:00 pm – Towne Green 
 
 
 
 

https://www.snellville.org/council-meeting-2020-01-27
https://www.snellville.org/broadcast-of-11320-council-meeting-2020-01-19


August 28 
Council Meeting  
Monday, August 28, 2023 
6:30 pm Work Session – Conference Room 145, City Hall  
7:30 pm Meeting - Council Chambers, City Hall 
 
 
 
 

https://www.snellville.org/council-meeting-2020-01-27
















 

 

 

CITY OF SNELLVILLE 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

5-YEAR UPDATE TO THE SNELLVILLE 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

In accordance with the Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive 
Planning established by the Georgia Planning Act of 1989, the Mayor and Council of the City of 
Snellville, Georgia will hold a public hearing on Monday, August 14, 2023 at 7:30 pm in the City 
Hall Council Chambers, 2342 Oak Road, Snellville, Georgia for the purpose of discussing the 5-
year update to the Snellville 2040 Comprehensive Plan, adopted 2-11-2019. 

 

The public is invited to attend this meeting to become informed about the timeline and process to 
update the Comprehensive Plan, as well as opportunities to provide input about the City's future 
growth and development. A draft update will be presented for public comment at a later date. 



Agenda Item Summary 
 

 
TO:  The Mayor and Council 
 
FROM:  Jason Thompson, Director 

Department of Planning and Development 
 
DATE:  August 14, 2023 
 
RE:  #RZ 23‐03 SUP 23‐02 – Highpoint Mixed‐Use Development 
 
LOCATION:  22.85± Acre Undeveloped Site at 1000 Athens Highway, Snellville, 

Georgia 
     
STATUS:  Tabled from July 24th Public Hearing 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Rezoning  from  BG  (General  Business)  District  to  MU  (Mixed‐Use)  District  and 
special  use  permit  for  multi‐family  dwellings  for  a  mixed‐use  development 
consisting of  300 multi‐family  apartments  (mixed‐use building  type);  28  single‐
family  attached  townhomes  (townhouse  building  type);  and  51,000  sq.  ft.  of 
retail, commercial, office and amenity space. 

Financial Impact:    Site Development Permit fees; Building Permit 
fees; Real Property Taxes; and Occupational Tax 
License fees. 

 
Planning Department 
Recommendation:  Approval with Conditions 
 
Planning Commission 
Meeting and 
Recommendation:  June 27, 2023 (Approval with Conditions) 
 
Mayor and Council 
Meetings:  July 10, 2023 (1st Reading)   

July 24, 2023 (2nd Reading and Public Hearing) 
August 14, 2023 (Case Continuation) 

 
Action Requested:  Consideration, Public Hearing and Action 
 
Draft Ordinances:  Attached 
 
Case Documents (website link): 
 

City of Snellville  2342 Oak Road  Snellville, GA 30078  770.985.3514 www.snellville.org 



 
 
 
 
22.85± Acre Undeveloped Site at 1000 Athens Highway, Snellville, Georgia  
Case #RZ 23‐03 SUP 23‐02 
August 14, 2023   
Page… 2 
 
 

 Letter of Intent (5‐17‐2023) 

 #RZ 23‐03 Rezoning Application (5‐17‐2023) 

 #SUP 23‐02 Special Use Permit Application (5‐17‐2023) 

 Application Supplements (5‐17‐2023) 

 Property Boundary Survey (5‐17‐2023) 

 Stacked Flats Floor Plan (5‐17‐2023) 

 Mixed‐Use Rendering (5‐17‐2023) 

 Townhouse Rendering (5‐17‐2023) 

 Highpoint Project Photos (5‐17‐2023) 

 Highpoint Mixed‐Use Projects (5‐17‐2023) 

 3‐27‐2023 Traffic Impact Study (5‐17‐2023) 

 3‐31‐2023 Trip Generation Comparison (5‐17‐2023) 

 5‐16‐2023 Rezoning Site Plan (5‐17‐2023) 

 Sample Townhouse Elevations (6‐13‐2023) 

 6‐27‐2023 Planning Department Case Summary & Analysis (6‐26‐
2023) 

 Unofficial 6‐27‐2023 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
(6‐29‐2023) 

 6‐27‐2023 Planning Commission Report (6‐28‐2023) 

 7‐10‐2023 Planning Department Case Summary & Analysis with 
Planning Commission Report (6‐28‐2023) 

 7‐17‐2023 Amended Letter of Intent (7‐17‐2023) 

 7‐24‐2023 Planning Department Case Summary & Analysis with 
Planning Commission Report and Recommendations on Requests in 
Amended Letter of Intent (7‐18‐2024) 

 Sample 24’ x 50’ Townhouse Sides & Rear Elevations (8‐1‐2023)  
 

 

https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/letter-of-intent-5-15-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/rz-23-03-application-5-16-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/sup-23-02-application-5-16-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/application-supplements-5-16-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/survey-5-15-2023.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/snellville-floor-plans.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/snellville-mixed-use-mf-rendering-1.jpg
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/townhouse-4-unit-building-front-photos.jpg
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/highpoint-project-pictures.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/highpoint-mixed-use-projects.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/tpa-us-78-rosebud-multi-use-snellville-traffic-impact-study.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/tpa-us-78-rosebud-multi-use-trip-generation-comparison.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/tpa-snellville-plan-05172023.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/sample-townhome-elevation-photos-6-13-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/rz-23-03-sup-23-02-highpoint-dev-6-26-2022-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/pc-case-report-rz-23-03-sup-23-02-6-28-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/rz-23-03-sup-23-02-highpoint-dev-6-28-2022-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/7-17-2023-amended-loi.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/rz-23-03-sup-23-02-highpoint-dev-7-18-2023-.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/sites/default/files/uploads/planning-development/documents/2023%20Agenda%20Packet/RZ%2023-03%20SUP%2023-02/24x50-sides-rear-elevations.pdf
https://www.snellville.org/agendas-minutes


ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 1 of 10 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
 
CITY OF SNELLVILLE 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-08 

  
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE CITY 

OF SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA, AS AMENDED, FOR A 22.85± ACRE TRACT OF 

LAND LOCATED IN LAND LOT 100 OF THE 5TH LAND DISTRICT, GWINNETT 

COUNTY, GEORGIA, 1000 ATHENS HIGHWAY, SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA; TO 

GRANT VARIANCES; TO ADD CONDITIONS AFFECTING THE PROPERTY; TO 

PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; TO REPEAL CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; TO 

PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 
CASE NUMBER: #RZ 23-03 
 
LOCATION: 1000 Athens Highway, Snellville, 

Georgia 
 
SIZE: 22.85± Acres 
 
TAX PARCEL: 5100 065 
 
REQUESTED ZONING: MU (Mixed-Use) District 
 
DEVELOPMENT/PROJECT: Mixed-Use Development consisting of 

300 Multi‐family Units; 28 Single‐
family Townhome Units; and 51,000 SF 
Retail, Commercial, Office and Amenity 
Space 

 
APPLICANT: Highpoint Development Partners GA, LLC 
 Atlanta, Georgia 30309 
 c/o Jeff Timler, Split Silk Properties, LLC 
 678-772-0202 
 
PROPERTY OWNER: The Kroger Co. 

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 
 
 



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 2 of 10 
 

WHEREAS, the governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia is the Mayor 

and Council thereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia desires to 

amend its official zoning map as it applies to the 22.85± acre tract of land located at 1000 

Athens Highway, Snellville, Georgia (Tax Parcel 5100 065) for a Mixed-Use Development 

consisting of 300 Multi‐family Units; 28 Single‐family Townhome Units; and 51,000 SF 

Retail, Commercial, Office and Amenity Space; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia desires to 

grant variances from Article 1 of Chapter 400 of the Snellville Unified Development 

Ordinance; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia desires to 

repeal variances and conditions of zoning from the 12-14-2015 Mayor and Council 

approved rezoning (case #RZ 15-06) and Ordinance No. 2015-20; and,  

 WHEREAS, the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Snellville, Georgia, 

will be positively impacted by the adoption of this Ordinance; therefore: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE 

CITY OF SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA, and by the authority thereof:  

 Section 1. The Official Zoning Map for the City of Snellville, Georgia for the 

22.85± acre tract of land described and shown on the rezoning site plan entitled “Highpoint 

– Zoning Plan, Snellville, Georgia” sealed and dated 5-16-2023 (stamped received 5-17-

2023) in Exhibit “A”, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference is hereby amended and changed from BG (General Business) District to MU 



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 3 of 10 
 

(Mixed-Use) District, subject to the attachment of the following enumerated variances and 

conditions: 

VARIANCES:  

1. Approval of variance/waiver from Sec. 401-3.4.C (Stub-out Streets) for the 

adjacent property to the west (Parcel 5101 571). 

2. Approval of variance/waiver from Sec. 401-3.4.H (Inter-parcel Access) for the 

adjacent property to the west (Parcel 5101 571). 

3. Approval of variance from Sec. 203-4.8 (Dimensional Standards) to increase the 

total maximum site density to not exceed fifteen (15) units per acre. 

4. Approval of variance from Sec. 203-4.2.B.1 (Mixed-Use Requirement) to reduce 

the 25% minimum total floor area requirement for non-residential uses to 18%. 

5. Approval of variance from Table 401-5.2 (Minimum Widths for New Streets and 

Project Access Improvements) to reduce the twenty-seven (27) feet pavement width 

(30 feet including curb and gutter) requirement to twenty-one (21) feet pavement 

width (24 feet including curb and gutter). 

6. Approval of variance from Sec. 401-5.10.B (Residential Curbing) to allow roll-

back curbs in front of the townhome units.      

CONDITIONS: 

1. The property shall be developed in general accordance with the rezoning site plan 

entitled “Highpoint - Zoning Plan, Snellville, Georgia”, dated 5-16-2023 (stamped 

received 5-17-2023) in Exhibit “A”, a copy of which is attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference, with modifications permitted to meet conditions 

of zoning or State, County, and City regulations. Substantial variation from the 



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 4 of 10 
 

conceptual rezoning site plan, as determined by the Director of Planning and 

Development will require Mayor and Council approval, after submitting a Change 

in Conditions application and receiving recommendations by the Planning 

Department and Planning Commission. 

2. The total site density for all dwelling units shall not exceed fifteen (15) units per 

acre maximum. 

3. Two (2) car garages shall be required for the fee-simple single-family attached 

townhomes. Driveway length shall be a minimum of twenty-two (22) feet behind 

the sidewalk. 

4. Solid waste dumpsters for the multi-family and commercial buildings shall be 

located at least 250 feet from the nearest townhome building. 

5. A minimum four (4) to six (6) feet wide mulched greenway path shall be provided 

within the 150 feet impervious setback and extending from Highway 78 to the 

proposed wet detention pond.  

6. The fee-simple townhomes shall not be subject to the requirements in Sec. 203-

4.2.B.2. (Mixed-Use Requirement). 

7. The stormwater management facility located at the southern portion of the site shall 

be designed as a wet extended detention facility, unless topographic, bedrock, or 

other preventive measures are present that require a dry pond. 

8.  After the 100th certificate of occupancy is issued for the multifamily project, the 

developer shall install the entrance boulevard and spine road as shown in Exhibit 

“B”, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, before 

any additional certificates of occupancy are issued. 



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 5 of 10 
 

9. Uses involving adult entertainment, including the sale or display of adult 

magazines, books, videos and as further defined by the Adult Entertainment 

Ordinance in effect on the date this condition is imposed, are prohibited. 

10. Signs higher than 15 feet or larger than 225 square feet are prohibited. 

11. Applicant to coordinate Rosebud Road access with adjoining property owner 

(parcel 5100 023) with the intention of a shared access to Rosebud.  Work to be 

designed and constructed in accordance with approval of Gwinnett DOT. 

 Section 2. All conditions of zoning and approved variances as attached to the 

subject property from the 12-14-2015 Mayor and Council approved rezoning and 

Ordinance No. 2015-20 (case #RZ 15-05) are hereby repealed. 

Section 3.  The changes in zoning classification are to be noted on the Official 

Zoning Map of the City of Snellville, Georgia as approved by the Mayor and Council as 

soon as reasonably possible following the adoption of this Ordinance. The Official Zoning 

Map of the City of Snellville, Georgia, shall also be amended with an editorial note 

specifying the date these Snellville zoning amendments were approved by the Mayor and 

Council and specifying the parcels affected by this Ordinance.  Until the changes are 

indicated on the Official Zoning Map of the City of Snellville, Georgia, as approved by the 

Mayor and Council, this Ordinance shall govern over Official Zoning Map of the City of 

Snellville, Georgia approved by the Mayor and Council to the extent of any discrepancy 

between this Ordinance and the Official Zoning Map of the City of Snellville, Georgia 

approved by the Mayor and Council. 

 Section 4. The preamble of this Ordinance shall be considered to be and is 

hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set out herein. 



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 6 of 10 
 

 Section 5.  (a) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council 

that all sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are or were, 

upon their enactment, believed by the Mayor and Council to be fully valid, enforceable and 

constitutional. 

 (b) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that, to the 

greatest extent allowed by law, each and every section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 

phrase of this Ordinance is severable from every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause 

or phrase of this Ordinance.  It is hereby further declared to be the intention of the Mayor 

and Council that, to the greatest extent allowed by law, no section, paragraph, sentence, 

clause or phrase of this Ordinance is mutually dependent upon any other section, paragraph, 

sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance. 

 (c) In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this 

Ordinance shall, for any reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent 

jurisdiction, it is the express intent of the Mayor and Council that such invalidity, 

unconstitutionality or unenforceability shall, to the greatest extent allowed by law, not 

render invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable any of the remaining phrases, 

clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of the Ordinance and that, to the greatest extent 

allowed by law, all remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of the 

Ordinance shall remain valid, constitutional, enforceable, and of full force and effect. 

Section 6.  Penalties in effect for violations of Chapter 1 of the Code of 

Ordinances, City of Snellville, Georgia at the time of the effective date of this Ordinance 



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 7 of 10 
 

shall be and are hereby made applicable to this Ordinance and shall remain in full force 

and effect. 

 Section 7.   All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are 

hereby expressly repealed 

 Section 8.   This Ordinance was adopted on ______________, 2023.  The 

effective date of this Ordinance shall be the date of adoption unless otherwise stated herein. 

 
 
 

[SIGNATURES BEGIN ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE]  



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 8 of 10 
 

ORDAINED this ______ day of ___________________, 2023. 
   
  
            
           
 
             
       Barbara Bender, Mayor 
        
 
             
ATTEST:      Dave Emanuel, Council Member 
 
 
             
Melisa Arnold, City Clerk    Cristy Lenski, Council Member 
 
 
             
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    Solange Destang, Council Member 
 
 
             
W. Charles Ross, City Attorney   Gretchen Schulz, Council Member 
Powell & Edwards, P.C. 
 
             
       Tod Warner, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
 

  



ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 9 of 10 
 

EXHIBIT “A”  
  





ORD 2023-08 #RZ 23-03  Page 10 of 10 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 





ORD 2023-09       #SUP 23-02  Page 1 of 6 

 
STATE OF GEORGIA 
 
CITY OF SNELLVILLE 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-09 

  
AN ORDINANCE TO GRANT A SPECIAL USE PERMIT ON A 22.85± ACRE 

TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN LAND LOT 100 OF THE 5TH LAND DISTRICT, 

GWINNETT COUNTY, GEORGIA, LOCATED AT 1000 ATHENS HIGHWAY, 

SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA FOR A MIXED-USE BUILDING TYPE WITH MULTIPLE-

FAMILY DWELLING UNITS; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; TO REPEAL 

CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 

 
CASE NUMBER: #SUP 23-02 
 
LOCATION: 1000 Athens Highway, Snellville, Georgia 
 
TAX PARCEL: 5100 065 
 
DEVELOPMENT/PROJECT: Mixed-Use Building Type with 300 Multi‐

family Units 
 
APPLICANT: Highpoint Development Partners GA, LLC 
 Atlanta, Georgia 30309 
 c/o Jeff Timler, Split Silk Properties, LLC 
 678-772-0202 
 
PROPERTY OWNER: The Kroger Co. 

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 
 
  

WHEREAS, the governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia is the Mayor 

and Council thereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority of the City of Snellville, Georgia desires to 

approve and grant the requested special use permit for the development and use of a mixed-

use building type with multi-family dwelling units as part of a 22.85± acre mixed-use 



ORD 2023-09       #SUP 23-02  Page 2 of 6 

development located at 1000 Athens Highway, Snellville, Georgia (Tax Parcel R5100 

065); and 

 WHEREAS, the property is zoned MU (Mixed-Use) District where Multiple-

Family Dwelling, defined as three or more dwelling units in a single building that does not 

meet the definition of single-family attached dwelling not within a TC District, is allowed 

as a special use when approved by the City Council; and, 

  WHEREAS, the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Snellville, Georgia, 

will be positively impacted by the adoption of this Ordinance; therefore: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE 

CITY OF SNELLVILLE, GEORGIA, and by the authority thereof:  

 Section 1.   For reasons stated in the public hearing and recommendations of the 

Planning Department and Planning Commission, a special use permit is hereby approved 

and granted for the development and use of a mixed-use building type with multi-family 

dwelling units on a 22.85± acre mixed-use development site located at 1000 Athens 

Highway, Snellville, Georgia (Tax Parcel R5100 065), described and shown on the 

rezoning site plan entitled “Highpoint – Zoning Plan, Snellville, Georgia” sealed and dated 

5-16-2023 (stamped received 5-17-2023) in Exhibit “A”, a copy of which is attached hereto 

and incorporated herein by reference. 

Section 2. The special use permit shall expire and become null and void three 

(3) years from the date of approval unless occupancy of the approved special use has 

occurred on the premises. The Director of Planning and Development may extend 

authorization for an additional period of six (6) months for reasons such as health, financial, 

or administrative problems incurred by the applicant during the permit period, provided 



ORD 2023-09       #SUP 23-02  Page 3 of 6 

application for such extension is submitted in writing at least forty-five (45) days prior to 

the original expiration date. The director must make the finding that the delay is justified 

by circumstances beyond the applicant’s control, and that the six-month extension can 

reasonably be expected to remedy the circumstances. 

Section 3.  The preamble of this Ordinance shall be considered to be and is 

hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

 Section 4.  (a) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council 

that all sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this Ordinance are or were, 

upon their enactment, believed by the Mayor and Council to be fully valid, enforceable, 

and constitutional. 

 (b) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that, to the 

greatest extent allowed by law, each and every section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 

phrase of this Ordinance is severable from every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause 

or phrase of this Ordinance.  It is hereby further declared to be the intention of the Mayor 

and Council that, to the greatest extent allowed by law, no section, paragraph, sentence, 

clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is mutually dependent upon any other section, 

paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance. 

 (c) In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this 

Ordinance shall, for any reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent 

jurisdiction, it is the express intent of the Mayor and Council that such invalidity, 

unconstitutionality or unenforceability shall, to the greatest extent allowed by law, not 

render invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable any of the remaining phrases, 



ORD 2023-09       #SUP 23-02  Page 4 of 6 

clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of the Ordinance and that, to the greatest extent 

allowed by law, all remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of the 

Ordinance shall remain valid, constitutional, enforceable, and of full force and effect. 

Section 5.  All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are 

hereby expressly repealed. 

 Section 6.   This Ordinance was adopted on _________________, 2023. The 

effective date of this Ordinance shall be the date of adoption unless otherwise stated herein. 

 

 

 
[SIGNATURES BEGIN ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE]  



ORD 2023-09       #SUP 23-02  Page 5 of 6 

ORDAINED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 
   
  
            
           
 
             
       Barbara Bender, Mayor 
        
 
             
ATTEST:      Dave Emanuel, Council Member 
 
 
             
Melisa Arnold, City Clerk    Cristy Lenski, Council Member 
 
 
             
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    Solange Destang, Council Member 
 
 
             
W. Charles Ross, City Attorney   Gretchen Schulz, Council Member 
Powell & Edwards, P.C. 
 
       ______________________________ 

Tod Warner, Mayor Pro Tem 
  



ORD 2023-09       #SUP 23-02  Page 6 of 6 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 




	Work Session Agenda
	Public Hearing & Regular Meeting Agenda
	Announcements
	Minutes for Approval
	2040 Comprehensive Plan Information
	2nd Reading - RZ 23-03 SUP 23-02 - 1000 Athens Highway
	ORD 2023-08 - RZ 23-03
	ORD 2023-09 - SUP 23-02




